
CITY COUNCIL MEETING NOTICE AND AGENDA 
 

Notice is hereby given that the City Council of Caribou will hold a Regular City Council Meeting 
on Monday, January 09, 2023, in the Council Chambers located at 25 High Street, 6:00 pm. 
 
THE MEETING WILL BE BROADCAST ON CABLE CHANNELS 8 & 1301 AND THE CITY’S YOUTUBE CHANNEL.  

**AGENDA REVISED 1/6/2023** 
1. Roll Call 
2. Invocation/Inspirational Thought 
3. Pledge of Allegiance 
4. Public Forum (PUBLIC COMMENTS SUBMITTED TO THE CITY CLERK PRIOR TO 4:30PM ON THE MEETING DATE WILL 

BE SHARED WITH THE COUNCIL DURING PUBLIC FORUM. Email dbrissette@cariboumaine.org) 
5. Minutes –            Pages 

a. December 12, 2022, Regular City Council meeting     02-05 
b. January 3, 2023, Organizational City Council meeting     06-10 

6. Bid Openings, Awards, and Appointments 
7. Public Hearings and Possible Action Items 
8. Reports by Staff and Committees 

a. Police Department Notification – Police Chief      11-13 
b. November Financial Report – Finance Director      14-30 
c. Consider abatement request on Personal Property Account – Finance Director  31-32 
d. 2023 Taxpayer Relief Fund reserve account      33-34 

9. New Business, Ordinances and Resolutions 
a. City Council member appointments to City Council committees and Liaison roles  35-38 
b. Establish timeline to present and discuss the 2023 Municipal Budget   39 
c. First read: Caribou Development Committee       40-44 

10. Old Business 
a. Caribou Hospital District Board – vote to officially terminate appointed board members 45 
b. Appointments to the Caribou Utilities District Board of Trustees    46 

11. Reports and Discussion by Mayor and Council Members     Reports 
12. Next Regular Meetings: January 23, February 13 & 27     47 
13. Executive Session(s) (May be called to discuss matters identified under MRSA, Title 1, §405.6) 
14. Adjournment 
If you are planning to attend this Public Meeting and due to a disability, need assistance in understanding or 
participating in the meeting, please notify the City Clerk ten or more hours in advance and we will, within reason, 
provide what assistance may be required. 
 
Certificate of Mailing/Posting 
The undersigned duly appointed City official for the municipality of Caribou City hereby certifies that a copy of the 
foregoing Notice and Agenda was posted at City Offices and on-line in accordance with City noticing procedures.      
 

 
BY: ____________________________________ Danielle Brissette, City Clerk 

1

mailto:dbrissette@cariboumaine.org


December 12, 2022 
22-26 Pg. 1 

Council Agenda Item #1:  Roll Call 

The Caribou City Council held a regular City Council meeting on Monday, December 12, 2022, with the 
following members present: Mayor Smith, Deputy Mayor Boma, Councilors Morrell, Morrill, Goughan, 
Theriault, and Willey.  Councilor elect Dan Bagley was present at the meeting.  

Manager Thompson was present for the meeting.  

Department managers Carl Grant (Finance Director), Gary Marquis (Superintendent of Parks and 
Recreation) and Scott Susi (Fire Chief) were present for the meeting.   

Melissa Lizotte of the Aroostook Republican covered the meeting, and it was broadcasted Via Spectrum 
and YouTube. 

Council Agenda Item #2:  Invocation/Inspirational Thought 

Mayor Smith read an invocation.  

Council Agenda Item #3:  Pledge of Allegiance 

Mayor Smith led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

Council Agenda Item #4:  Public Forum 

Troy Haney, Caribou Resident  

Mr. Haney came to propose an idea for the Former Caribou Trailer Park.  He explained that the city needs 
more places to stay for people coming here.  He is proposing using the former trailer park to construct a 
rental space with trail access.  He explained that they would be log cabins built on trailer frames and he 
just wanted to try to get a pulse from the council on what they thought of the idea.     

Council had a brief discussion regarding their thoughts and concerns regarding utilizing the former trailer 
park for short term rentals and explained that one of the first things is to find out what is allowed through 
the FAA.   

Council Agenda Item #5:  Minutes 

a.  Minutes for the Regular City Council meeting on September 26, 2022 

b.  Minutes for the Regular City Council meeting on October 11, 2022 

c.  Minutes for the Regular City Council meeting on October 24, 2022 

d.  Minutes for the Regular City Council meeting on November 28, 2022 

Motion made by Councilor Willey, seconded by Councilor Theriault to accept the minutes, and move the 
slate as presented.   

Roll Call Vote:  C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault – 
Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

Council Agenda Item #6:  Bid Openings, Awards and Appointments 

a.  In appreciation for the City council service of City Councilor Doug Morrell 

Penny red an email from a unanimous citizen: 

2



December 12, 2022 
22-26 Pg. 2 

“This note is to say goodbye to Councilor Doug Morrill. Doug has performed an outstanding service to 
the taxpayers of the city of Caribou.  For those people who love Trump, you likewise got to love 
Councilor Doug Morrill. The similarities are amazing. Like it or not they both speak their minds while 
continuing to fight uphill battles unhindered by the yapping chihuahuas nipping at their heels trying to 
bring them down. Too bad those chihuahuas just didn’t know the charter.   

So, Doug, you can return to your private life with your head held high. You have done an excellent job 
overseeing how the public dollar is spent.  You will be missed.” 

Mayor Smith presented Councilor Morrell with a desk clock and his name plate and thanked him for his 
time on Council.   

Council Agenda Item #7:  Public Hearings 

There were not items scheduled for discussion. 

Council Agenda Item #8:  Reports by Staff and Committees 

a.  Bid on Tax Acquired property 

Carl Grant (Finance Director) explained that he has been presented an offer and received the full payment 
of what was asked for when a property had gone out for bid for 274 Access Highway.   

Motion made by Councilor Theriault, seconded by Deputy Mayor Boma to accept the offer for the tax 
acquired property, Map 11, Lot 31-B.   

Roll Call Vote:  C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault – 
Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

b.  2023 Caribou Fire and Ambulance Fee Schedule 

Scott Susi (Fire Chief) explained the proposed fee schedule that he would like to implement starting the 
first of the year.  He stated that he has updated the fees using the new base fee CMS (Medicare) has 
provided for the upcoming year and added in the rural designator which is 3% and the super rural 
designator of 22.6% to come up with the max allowable rate.   

Motion made by Councilor Willey, seconded by Councilor Theriault to accept the new fee schedule as 
presented to start January 1, 2023.  

Roll Call Vote:  C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault – 
Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

c.  End of the year financial considerations 

Manager Thompson explained that the city has received $363,453 more than budgeted and still has a 
December payment to receive from revenue sharing.  This money is supposed to be used to offset taxation 
and reduce the amount in the commitment.  She stated that the plan would be to put the funds into a 
reserve account to use for the 2023 tax commitment.   

d.  Manager’s Report 

Manager Thompson reviewed the City Manager’s Report dated December 12, 2022. 

Council Agenda Item #9:  New Business, Ordinances and Resolutions 

3



December 12, 2022 
22-26 Pg. 3 

a.  2023 Contract for Computer Network Support Services with Oak Leaf 

Councilor Morrill asked if the new contract contained an increase.  

Manager Thompson explained that the new contract does contain an increase of $100 per month, and that 
there was no increase last year.   

Motion made by Councilor Morrell, seconded by Deputy Mayor Boma to accept the contract with 
Oakleaf as presented.   

Roll Call Vote:  C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault – 
Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

Council Agenda Item #10:  Old Business 

There were no items scheduled for discussion. 

Council Agenda Item #11:  Reports and Discussion by Mayor and Council Members 

Councilor Goughan wished e everyone a Merry Christmas and Happy Holiday season.  He also sends his 
condolences to the family of John Swanberg.   

Councilor Willey agreed with Councilor Goughan and sends her condolences to the Swanberg family.  
She stated that recently the library had been defaced and that it looks like they believe they have found 
the person behind the vandalism. Councilor Willey also thanked Troy Haney, and the rec for everything 
that they do to put on events here in Caribou.   

Councilor Theriault wishes everyone a Merry Christmas and Happy Holiday.  She too sends her 
condolences to the family of John Swanberg.  She stated that on a lighter note there seems to be a very 
positive vibe in Caribou.   

Deputy Mayor Boma stated that she agrees with the previous sentiments for the Swanberg family and also 
wishes everyone a Happy Holiday season.  

Councilor Morrill wishes everyone happy holidays and also said that it has been a pleasure serving the 
citizens of Caribou by being on the council this year, he thanked Councilor Morrell for his time and for 
helping him to learn different things while being new on the Council.   

Councilor Morrell sends his condolences to the Swanberg family.  He explained that Caribou has lost a 
true asset and an advocate.   

Mayor Smith also sends his condolences to the Swanberg family and thanked the employees for their 
work throughout the year.   

Council Agenda Item #12:  Next Regular Meetings:  January 3, 2023 Organizational meeting 

Council Agenda Item #13: Executive Session(s) (May be called to discuss matters identified under 
MRSA, Title 1, §405.6) 

a. 1 MRSA §405.6.A Personnel matters – Non-Union Compensation for 2023 

Motion made by Councilor Willey, seconded by Deputy Mayor Boma to enter Executive session under 1 
MRSA, §405.6.A to discuss personnel matters -  Non-Union Compensation for 2023.  

4



December 12, 2022 
22-26 Pg. 4 

Roll Call Vote:  C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault – 
Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

Council exited executive session at 7:35 p.m. 

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Councilor Willey to approve Non-Union Compensation 
effective for 1/1/2023 as presented.  

Roll Call Vote:  C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – No, D. Morrell – No, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault – 
Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

Council Agenda Item #14:  Adjournment 

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Councilor Willey to adjourn the meeting at 7:36 p.m. 

Vote was unanimous.  

 

Danielle Brissette, Secretary 

5



January 3, 2023 
23-01 Pg. 1 

Council Agenda Item #1:  Roll Call 

The Caribou City Council held an Organizational Meeting, Monday, January 3, 2023, at 6:00 p.m. 
in Council Chambers with the following members present Councilors Bagley, Boma, Goughan, 
Morrill, Smith, Theriault, and Willey.   

Penny Thompson, City Manager was also present.     

Department managers Kenneth Murchison (CEO/Zoning Administrator) and Gary Marquis 
(Supt. Of Parks and Recreation) were present for the meeting.    

Melissa Lizotte of the Aroostook Republican covered the meeting, and it was broadcasted via 
Spectrum and YouTube.  

 Council Agenda Item #2:  Invocation/inspirational thought 

Councilor Smith read an invocation.   

Council Agenda Item #3:  Pledge of Allegiance  

The council led the Pledge of Allegiance.  

Council Agenda Item #4:  Swearing in of Elected Officials 

The City Clerk administered the oath of office to Daniel Bagley and Joan Theriault for a term of 
three years.  

Council Agenda Item #5:  Election of Council Chairperson/Mayor and Deputy Mayor for 2023 

Motion made by Councilor Theriault, seconded by Councilor Boma to nominate Jody Smith for 
Council Chairperson/Mayor for 2023. 

Motion made by Councilor Morrell, seconded by Councilor Goughan to nominate R. M. Goughan 
for Council Chairperson/Mayor for 2023. 

Jody Smith was elected Council Chairperson/Mayor for 2023 by secret ballot with a vote of six 
for Smith.   

Motion made by Councilor Willey, seconded by Councilor Theriault to nominate Councilor Boma 
for Council Deputy Chairperson/Deputy Mayor for 2023 

The vote for Councilor Boma to be the Deputy Mayor for 2023 was unanimous  

Council Agenda Item #6:  Public Forum 

There were no public comments.  

Council Agenda Item #7:  Bid Openings, Awards, and Appointments  

a.  Drawing for the 2023 City of Caribou dog licensing award by Mayor 

Mayor Smith picked the winning tag number from a tote containing the tag numbers of the dogs 
that were licensed by December 31, 2022 for the upcoming year.  The winner of the drawing is 

6



January 3, 2023 
23-01 Pg. 2 

Logan Cyr for their dog Hunter.  A $50.00 gift certificate for veterinary services will be sent to 
their local veterinarian.   

b.  Appointment of City Administrative Officers 

 Motion made by Deputy Mayor Boma, seconded by Councilor Willey to appoint City 
Administrative Officers  

 i. City Manager:      Penny Thompson 
 ii. City Treasurer:    Carl Grant 
 iii. City Tax Collector:    Carl Grant 
 iv.  City Clerk & Registrar of Voters:  Danielle Brissette 
 v.   Overseer of the General Assistance Program:Danielle Brissette 
 vi.   City Auditor:     Felch & Company, LLC 
 vii.   Legal Officer(s)     Rick Solman (General) 

Bernstein Shur (Personnel & 
Collective Bargaining) 

c.  Approval of Administrative Appointments 

 Motion made by Councilor Willey, seconded by Deputy Mayor Boma to approve the 
Administrative Appointments  

 i.   Deputy Treasurer:    Holli Doody 
 ii. Deputy City Clerk:    Cherie Garman 
 
Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. 
Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

d.  Discussion of Caribou Hospital District Board – Will be discussed later in Executive Session.  

e.  Appointment of Members to Committees and Advisory Boards 

 i.  Caribou Housing Authority Board 

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Deputy Mayor Boma to re-appoint Jay Kamm, 
James Belanger and Gail Michaud to the Caribou Housing Authority Board.  

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. 
Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

 ii.  Caribou Utilities District 

No members were appointed to the CUD board, they have moved it to later in the meeting.   

 iii.  Library Board of Trustees 

Motion made by Deputy Mayor Boma, seconded by Councilor Morrell to reappoint Heather Hale 
and Wanda Theriault for 2-year terms and Kathryn Olmstead and Lisa Wilcox for 3-year terms to 
the Caribou Library Board of Trustees. 

7



January 3, 2023 
23-01 Pg. 3 

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. 
Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

 iv.   Planning Board 

Motion made by Deputy Mayor Boma, seconded by Councilor Willey to appoint David Corriveau, 
Frank McElwain, and Frances “Liz” Mockler to the Planning Board for 3-year terms. 

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. 
Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

 v.  Recreation Commission 

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Deputy Mayor Boma to appoint Andrea Flannery 
for a term of 1-year and Jane Mavor-Small for a 3-year term. 

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. 
Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

 vi. Zoning Board of Appeals 

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Councilor Theriault to put it back out for 
applications for the Zoning Board of Appeals. 

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. 
Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

 vii.   Airport Advisory Committee 

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Councilor Theriault to appoint Andrea Flannery 
for a 3-year term. 

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, C. Boma – No, R.M. Goughan – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. 
Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

   viii. Caribou Riverfront Renaissance Committee 

Councilor Bagley explained that he is currently on the Committee and that his position would also 
need to be filled on the board.  

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Councilor Theriault to appoint Andrea Flannery 
and David Belyea to the Caribou Riverfront Renaissance Committee for a term of three years.   

Roll Call Vote:  C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. 
Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

 ix.   Cary Medical Center Board of Directors 

Motion made by Deputy Mayor Boma, seconded by Councilor Willey to appoint Irene Djuanda, 
MD, and Luke Dyer to the Cary Medical Center Board of Directors each for a 3-year term.  

8



January 3, 2023 
23-01 Pg. 4 

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – No, C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. 
Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

 x.   Hospital Board of Trustees 

This board has been suspended and will be discussed in executive session; no action required. 

 xi.   Board of Assessors 

There were no applications received, no action required. 

xii. Caribou Utilities District 

Motion made by Councilor Theriault, seconded by Councilor Willey to table the discussion until 
the January 9th meeting to allow time for more applicants to fill the vacancies. 

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – No, J. Morrill – Yes, J. 
Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

 xiii.  Planning Board 

The remaining position on the planning board will be advertised and appointed at a later date.  

Council Agenda Item #8:  New Business & Adoption of Ordinances and Resolutions 

a.  Discussion and Possible Action regarding the 2023 Council Meeting Calendar 

b.  Discussion and Possible Action Regarding Collection of Property Tax Prior to 2023 
Commitment Date 

c.  Discussion and Possible Action Regarding Manager Authorization to Approve Treasurer 
Warrants 

d.  Discussion and Possible Action Regarding Authorization to Provide a Tax Club for 2023 

Motion made by Deputy Mayor Boma, seconded by Councilor Theriault to move the slate for 
agenda items 8 A, B C and D.  

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – No, J. Morrill – Yes, J. 
Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

Council Agenda Item #9:  First-read items for upcoming City Council meetings 

a.  Discussion of City Council member appointments to City Council committees and liaison roles. 

Mayor Smith urged the Council to make sure to get the information to the City Manager for the 
roles that they are interested in for the upcoming year.  

b.  Discussion of City Council priorities for 2023 

Council had a brief discussion regarding their concerns regarding blight and economic 
development.  Council will let Manager Thompson what categories they would like to see for 
discussion for the upcoming year.   

9



January 3, 2023 
23-01 Pg. 5 

Council Agenda Item #10:  Reports and Discussion by Mayor and Council Members 

Councilor Theriault would like to know if there is anything going on with the Nylander.  

Manager Thompson stated the employee is still working to cataloging all the items in the museum.   

Councilor Willey explained that the library has received a $20,000 grant from the King foundation 
for the genealogy and archive room.  

Deputy Mayor Boma would like to schedule a Public Safety Building committee meeting.   

Councilor Bagley said that he is excited to be on the Council and suggested having a work session 
to discuss the liaison roles and the priorities rather than having a meeting.   

Councilor Morrill explained that he thinks that 2023 is going to be a big year for the city, and that 
we have excellent staff.  He said that Caribou is growing, and he is anxious for 2023. 

Mayor Smith welcomed the new Councilor Dan Bagley and returning Councilor Joan Theriault 
for their new 3-year term.  He also extended his gratitude to the Council for allowing him to be 
Mayor for another year.  

Council Agenda Item #11:  Executive Session(s) (May be called to discuss matters identified 
under 1 MRSA §405.6) 

a.  1 MRSA §405.6.E Consultation with attorney regarding Caribou Hospital District Board 

Motion made by Councilor Willey, seconded by Councilor Theriault to enter into executive session 
under 1 MRSA §405.6.E Consultation with attorney regarding Caribou Hospital District Board at 
6:47 pm.  

Council exited executive session at 7:58 pm. 

No action was taken.   

Council Agenda Item #11:  Next Meeting 

January 9, 2023 

Council Agenda Item #12:  Adjournment 

Motion made by Deputy Mayor Boma, seconded by Councilor Morrill to adjourn the meeting at 
8:00 pm. 

Vote was unanimous to adjourn the meeting. 

 

Danielle Brissette, Secretary 

 

 

10



CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  
25 HIGH STREET  

CARIBOU, ME. 04736  
MEMO  
 
TO:   Caribou City Council Members  
FROM:  Michael Gahagan, Chief of Police  
RE:   Police Department Notification 
DATE:  January 9, 2023 
 

On the following page is a required notification from the Caribou Police Department. 
 

11



12



13



14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, City Manager 
Date:   January 9, 2023 
Re:   Revenue Sharing  

  

In 2022, Revenue Sharing was fully funded, and the amount received by the City of Caribou 
exceeded the amount budgeted by $505,415.09. As discussed at the December meeting, after 
receiving the advice below from MMA Legal, it was determined that once the final number was 
received, the excess funds would be used to offset the property tax burden for Caribou citizens 
in 2023.  

 

From MMA Legal: 

“Although the law states that the assessors must reduce an amount equal to the amount the municipal 
officers “estimate to be received” under the revenue sharing law, this section is commonly interpreted to 
require all revenue sharing funds be used to reduce the commitment. This is supported by the Legislative 
intent stated in 30-A M.R.S. § 5681 (which is cited in 36 M.R.S. § 714). In this section, the Legislature 
expressly states that the purpose of revenue sharing (or providing state funds to municipalities) is to 
reduce the property tax burden. It recognizes that municipal services rely heavily on property taxes and 
therefore state funds are provided to municipalities to ensure municipalities can continue providing these 
services without increasing property taxes. For this reason, it is a generally accepted that any funds 
received from the state pursuant to section 5681 must be used to directly reduce the commitment.” 

 

Requested Action 

Please make a motion to “Create a reserve account for 2022 Revenue Sharing funds received 
over the budgeted amount, a total of $505,415.09, to reduce the property tax burden in 2023. 
This reserve account shall be called the ‘2023 Taxpayer Relief Fund’”. 

Second. Vote. 

33

http://www.mainelegislature.org/legis/statutes/30-A/title30-Asec5681.html


R 10-01-18 GENERAL GOVERNMENT / Gen Govt - STATE REVENUE SHARING
1 36 1/24/2022 Cash Receipts 155,546.45 0.00 01/24/2022 C/R
2 121 2/23/2022 Cash Receipts 180,087.01 0.00 02/23/2022 C/R
3 190 3/22/2022 Cash Receipts 86,639.14 0.00 03/22/2022 C/R
4 275 4/21/2022 Cash Receipts 99,428.28 0.00 04/21/2022 C/R
5 358 5/25/2022 Cash Receipts 326,079.24 0.00 05/25/2022 C/R
6 423 6/22/2022 Cash Receipts 182,194.89 0.00 06/22/2022 C/R
7 516 7/22/2022 Cash Receipts 236,039.65 0.00 07/22/2022 C/R
8 592 8/24/2022 Cash Receipts 146,519.89 0.00 08/24/2022 C/R
9 688 9/22/2022 Cash Receipts 160,805.93 0.00 09/22/2022 C/R
10 750 10/21/2022 Cash Receipts 229,343.10 0.00 10/21/2022 C/R
11 824 11/22/2022 Cash Receipts 160,769.72 0.00 11/22/2022 C/R
12 902 12/22/2022 Cash Receipts 141,961.79 0.00 12/22/2022 C/R

Account Detail
2:57 PM
Caribou-2022

Page 1
01/03/2023

Penny Thompson
Periods 1 to 12

Period Journal Check Date Journal Type Credits Debits DescriptionAccount

34



CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  
25 HIGH STREET  

CARIBOU, ME. 04736  
MEMO  
 
TO:   Caribou City Council Members  
FROM:  Penny Thompson, City Manager  
RE:  Mayoral Appointment of City Council Committees 
DATE:  January 9, 2023 
 

 
City Charter, Section 2.03, provides that the Mayor is to appoint all City Council Committees, name the 
Chairperson of said Committees and determine the duties of said Committees.  
 
Mayor Smith is speaking with members of the 2023 Caribou City Council and will make appointments to the 
Caribou City Council committees.  
 
In this packet is a list of committee and liaison appointments without names. 
 
 
Suggested action: 
 
Discuss with Mayor Smith. 
 
 
 

35



Role Member Committee Purpose

Chair

Member

Member

Staff City Manager

Board Member

City Rep City Manager

Council Rep

Council Rep

Chair

Member

Member

Staff Finance Director

Staff City Manager

Board Member Jody Smith

Board Member City Manager

Chair

Staff Finance Director

Staff City Manager

Board Member

Citizen Member
Kenneth 

Murchison, Jr.

Alternate City Manager

Mayoral  appointment of City Councilors for 2022 Committees.

City Charter, Section 2.03 provides, "The Mayor shall, subject to the approval of the City Council, appoint all 

Council Committees, name the Chairperson of said Committees and determine the duties of said Committees."   

According to action of City Council during the January 4, 2021 meeting, all red and green appointments will be 

considered for the Charter test of 80% attendance at committee meetings to which a Councilor is appointed. 

Liaison roles will not apply  toward the attendance test.

Review capital requests as part of the budget process. Multiple meetings 

prior to budget approval. Deadline: Have recommendation back to Council 

by February 15 for incorporation into the final 2023 budget (deadline to 

present to City Council is March 1.)

Council Committees by Charter, Statute or Agreement

Conducts annual review of investment policy and considers potential options 

for economic stimulus funds. Committee may be made up of citizens. Meets 

as needed.

Housing Board

CEGC

Personnel

Discuss Personnel policies with emphasis on policy updates, benefit options, 

wage surveys. All Councilors are part of this committee unless a smaller 

citizen’s board is established.

Aroostook Waste Solutions

Meets monthly. Caribou has two voting members on AWS Board of Directors. 

One member is from the City Council. Kenneth Murchison, Jr. has been 

appointed until 12/31/23. City Manager serves as alternate to voting 

members.

NMDC General Board

Meets annually. Typically the Mayor is appointed to NMDC General Board. 

City Manager is also appointed to the NMDC Executive Board which meets 

more frequently.

Capital Budget

Investment

Organizational bylaws requires two Council representatives to attend these 

board meetings. Meets quarterly.

The CEGC is made up of citizens who manage an economic  investment/loan 

program on behalf of the City. Meets monthly at 7am on the third Thursday

Page 1 of 3 36



Chair

Member

Member

Staff PW Director

Staff City Manager

Chair

Member

Member

Staff PW Director

Staff CEO

Staff City Manager

Chair City Manager

Member

Legal Counsel

Respective Dept. 

Heads

Chair

Member

Member

Staff City Manager

Staff
Respective Dept. 

Heads

Chair

Member

Member

Staff City Manager

Chair

Member

Member

Staff Police Chief

Staff Police Sargent
Staff City Manager

Council Charter Committee

Airport

Highway / Protection

Labor Relations

Review airport consultant contract, annual capital master plan and FBO 

operations. Investigate charter service opportunities and receive reports on 

lease operations.

Act as authorized bargaining agents on behalf of the city council in order to 

prepare tentative agreements for council approval. The Public Works union 

contract expires this year on 12/31/2023.Staff

Municipal Buildings

Completion of police station design study and fire station renovation project. 

Additional consideration of asset management systems.

Public Safety Committee

Evaluate police station and prepare ballot measure.

Recommend changes to City Charter to full City Council to go out to the 

Caribou voters.

Review work plan with PW Director for annual paving. 

Consider multi‐modal transportation services and improvement projects (e.g. 

sidewalks, street crossings, bus stations, etc.). 

Consider new street light locations. 

Deadline: Review Annual road plan before April 2021

Page 2 of 3 37



Board Liaison Committee Purpose

Airport 

Advisory 

Committee

Meets as needed to discuss operations, policies, community outreach events 

and fund raising opportunities

Caribou 

Riverfront 

Renaissance 

Committee

Meets monthly to discuss the best way to identify and prioritize riverfront 

assets, set goals and ultimately restore and renew commercial, residential 

and recreational opportunities on the Aroostook River.

Library
Meets monthly to discuss operations, policies and fund raising opportunities

Nylander 

Museum Meets monthly to discuss operations, policies and fund raising opportunities

Planning Board
Meets monthly to review development proposals, regulations, zoning and 

land use matters.

Recreation 

Board Meets monthly to discuss operations, policies and fund raising opportunities

Liaison Roles

Page 3 of 3 38



CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  
25 HIGH STREET  

CARIBOU, ME. 04736  
MEMO  
 
TO:   Caribou City Council Members  
FROM:  Penny Thompson, City Manager  
RE:  2023 City Budget 
DATE:  January 9, 2023 
 

Per the City Charter, Section 5.06 Budget 

The budget process shall be divided into three processes: Expense Budget, Capital Expense Budget and Income Budget. 

A. Expense Budget 
• On or before January 15: The City Manager shall submit to the City Council a draft budget report detailing operation 

expenses for the fiscal year. 
• On or before February 15: The City Manager will have each City Department Head present a detailed Expense 

Budget Report in a public forum where both the City Council and Caribou’s citizens can ask questions and provide 
input to the City Manager and each Department Head. 

• On or before March 1: The City Manager will provide the City’s final written detailed Expense Budget Report for the 
ensuing year to the City Council. 

• On or before the third Monday in March: The City Manager will hold a public hearing and vote on the City’s final 
detailed expense budget for the ensuing year. 

B. Capital Expense Budget 
o On or before January 15: The City Manager shall submit to the City Council a capital budget report detailing capital 

needs for the fiscal year. 
o On or before February 15: The City Manager will have each City Department Head present their written detailed 

Capital Expense Report in a public forum where both the City Council and Caribou’s citizens can ask questions and 
provide input to the City Manager and each Department Head. 

o On or before March 1: The City Manager will provide the City’s final detailed Capital Expense Budget Report for the 
ensuing year to the City Council. 

o On or before the third Monday in March: The City Manager will hold a public hearing and vote on the City’s final 
detailed Capital Expense Budget for the ensuing year. 

C. Income Budget 
֎ On or before January 15: The City Manager will provide detailed Income Estimate Report to the City Council for 

current year. 
֎ On or before February 15: The City Manager shall provide a written estimated Income Budget for the current year to 

the City Council and Caribou’s citizens. This estimated Income Budget must provide the following detailed income 
information for each main general ledger account and each general ledger sub-account: three year average of actual 
income, previous year’s income budget, previous year’s actual income, proposed current year income budget, and 
proposed level of taxation for municipal budget based on previous year valuation. 

D. Complete City Budget 
On or before May 31: The City Manager will finalize the complete City Budget for the current year including all three 
elements: expense, capital expense, and income. The City Council has the opportunity to reduce the expense or capital 
expense budget if needed based on the current income budget, but cannot increase the expense or capital expense 
budget. 
E. Set the Rate of Taxation 
The City Council will set the rate of taxation for the City based on the approved budgets of the City, County and RSU 39 
on or before the 30th of June each year. 39



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, City Manager 
Date:   January 9, 2023 
Re:   First Read: Caribou Development Committee  

  

Local businessman Troy Haney brought up the idea of creating a citizen committee to advance 
the Economic Development efforts within the City of Caribou. It was based upon the same idea 
as the Caribou Riverfront Renaissance Committee (Chapter 20 in the City of Caribou ordinances). 
This would be another tool in the City of Caribou Economic Development toolbox and would 
complement the ongoing work of the Caribou Economic Growth Council and staff. 

A first draft of the proposed Chapter 22 is attached for your review.  

At a later meeting, this would be introduced as an ordinance and a public hearing would be held. 

 

 

Requested Action 

This is a “First Read”. No action is required at this time. 

Please provide feedback on the proposed ordinance. 

40



Chapter 22 Caribou Development Committee 

ARTICLE 1 Caribou Development Committee 

Section 

22-101  Preamble 
22-102  Appointment and Tenure 
22-103  Responsibility 
22-104  Bylaws 
22-105  Compensation Benefits 
22-106  Purpose 
22-107  Funding 
22-108  Reporting Requirements 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

41



Chapter 22 Caribou Development Committee 

ARTICLE I Caribou Development Committee 

Sec. 22-101  Preamble 

WHEREAS, economic development has been listed as an important priority by the Caribou City 
Council; and  
 
WHEREAS, there has been increased interest by developers as evidenced by the number 
of commercial real estate transactions in recent years; and 
 
WHEREAS, portions of the City of Caribou business district are located in a Tax Increment 
Financing Districts; and 
 
WHEREAS, there is a desire to organize a standing committee, appointed by the Caribou City 
Council, for the purpose of promoting community growth and development within the City of 
Caribou and;  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 
CITY OF CARIBOU MAINE HEREBY establishes the “Caribou Development 
Committee”, whose purpose is to utilize existing and potential natural, financial 
and citizen resources to support existing commercial activities, attract new and 
complimentary businesses to Caribou, and strengthen industry relationships while 
maintaining and leveraging the iconic character of our community. 

 
Sec. 22-102  Appointment and Tenure 

IT IS THEREFORE ADOPTED by the Caribou City Council pursuant to Sec. 2.11 of the Caribou 
City Charter, as follows: 
 
The Caribou Development Committee (hereinafter, “the Committee”) is hereby designated a 
formal standing committee of the City of Caribou, initially composed of five members of the 
public, who shall be appointed by the City Council and the Committee will include two ex-officio 
members with voting privileges: one member of the Caribou Planning Board (appointed by a vote 
of the members), and one member of the Caribou Economic Growth Council (appointed by a vote 
of the members). In addition, the Committee will include two ex-officio members without voting 
privileges: one member of the Caribou City Council (appointed by a vote of the Caribou City 
Council), and the City Manager. 
 
Public members shall be appointed for year-three terms; except however, initial appointments shall 
be made as follows: two for three-year terms, two for two-year terms and one for a one-year term.  
 
Ex-officio members shall serve indefinitely, at the pleasure of the appointing authority. 

42



Sec. 22-103  Responsibility 

The City Manager shall be responsible for the organization, administration, and operation of the 
Committee; except however, said responsibilities may be delegated to the Committee, as the City 
Manager deems appropriate. 

Sec. 22-104  Bylaws 

The Committee shall adopt by-laws providing for the officers, organization, and activities of the 
Committee, including a provision for the appointment by the Committee of an unlimited number 
of additional non-voting members.  The Committee’s by-laws, which shall be initially approved 
and may be subsequently amended, by a majority vote of the voting members. All by-laws shall 
be forwarded by the City Manager to the City Council. 

Sec. 22-105  Compensation Benefits 

No member of the Committee, other than employees of the City in other capacities serving ex 
officio pursuant to section (a) and any persons who may be specifically employed by the City for 
Committee-related activities, shall receive any compensation for Committee activities, nor shall 
any person serving on the Committee be deemed an agent or employee of the City, being entitled 
to any customary employment benefits, specifically including, but not limited to workers’ 
compensation benefits. 

Sec. 22-106  Purpose 

The purpose of Caribou Development Committee shall be to: 

• Define the meaning of “economic development” and set SMART (specific, measurable, 
achievable, relevant, and time-based) goals for the committee that: 

o Maintain broad community support regarding the direction of development efforts 
o Encourage broader access to economic incentives for quality job creation and tax base 

enhancement 
o Reduce barriers to economic growth while recognizing regulatory function 
o Develop municipal initiatives that support existing and future business 
o Identify and pursue additional resources to aid in economic development efforts 
o Assist firms in finding appropriate development sites for expansion 
o Encourage downtown revitalization and neighborhood business development 
o Retain and expand riverfront development while recognizing environmental constraints 
o Strengthen programs which encourage entrepreneurship by becoming a resource for 

information and technical assistance 
o Promote redevelopment of existing vacant lots within the urban compact zone, 

underutilized land, and brownfields properties  
o Maintain and improve Caribou’s position as a tourist destination 
o Improve commercial, recreational, entertainment and hospitality opportunities for 

citizens of Caribou and surrounding communities 

43



Sec. 22-107  Funding 
 
All grant applications seeking funds more than $2,500.00 shall be approved by the City Council, 
and all funds related to the Committee’s activities shall be administered through the City 
Manager’s office. 
 
Sec. 22-108  Reporting Requirements 
 
The Committee shall file an annual report with the City Council on or before January 31st of each 
year, covering goals, activities, and accomplishments during the preceding year. 

44



CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  
25 HIGH STREET  

CARIBOU, ME. 04736  
MEMO  
 
TO:   Caribou City Council Members  
FROM:  Penny Thompson, City Manager  
RE:   Discussion of Caribou Hospital District Board 
DATE:  January 9, 2023 
 

The Caribou Hospital District Board was suspended at the November 28, 2022, meeting until the 
Caribou City Council has had the opportunity to review actions taken by the Caribou Hospital 
District Board at the Caribou Hospital District Board meeting held on November 22, 2022. 
 
The Caribou City Council met with legal counsel in executive session after the January 3, 2023, 
meeting. Tonight, there will be an opportunity for the City Council to discuss the matter in open 
session. 
 
 
Suggested action: 
 
Make a motion to officially terminate the appointments of the Caribou Hospital District Board 
members with unexpired terms. Those members are Mr. Tim Todd, whose term was due to expire 
on 12/31/2023, and Mr. Doug Plourde, whose term was due to expire on 12/31/2024. (Mr. Bryan 
Cullins’ term expired on December 31, 2022.) 
 
 

45



CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  

CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

TO:   Caribou City Council Members  

FROM:  Penny Thompson, City Manager  

RE:  Appointments to the Caribou Utilities District Board 

of Trustees 
DATE:  January 9, 2023 

 

The Caribou City Council did not make appointments to the Caribou Utilities District Board of 

Trustees at the organizational meeting on January 3, 2023.  

 

There are two appointments related to terms which expired on December 31, 2023. A third vacancy 

for a 2-year term was created upon the unexpected passing of Board of Trustees member, John 

Swanberg. In making the nominations, please specify for a 3-year term (2) or a 2-year term. The 

following applications have been received by the City Clerk: 

 

 
Suggested action: 

 

Make a motion to appoint two members for 3-year terms and one member for the balance of an 

unexpired term of 2-years. 

46



Monthly Permit Report

December 2022

CURRENT YEAR PRIOR YEAR PRIOR YEAR

MONTH TO DATE MONTH TO DATE

BUILDING PERMITS 0 51 1 62

HOMES 0 2 1 5

MOBILE HOMES 0 2 0 3

MULTI-FAMILY 0 0 0 1

COMMERCIAL 0 7 0 19

EXEMPT 0 1 0 4

PLUMBING PERMITS

INTERNAL 1 14 3 25

EXTERNAL 1 9 0 15

DEMO PERMITS 1 17 1 17

SIGN PERMITS 0 13 0 10

Year-to-Date is January 2022 to December 2022

47


